
 

 

 

 

Local Countryside Access Forum 
Tuesday 7 October 2003, 7.00 pm 

AGENDA 
 
 Page No 

1. Welcome   

2. Apologies   

3. Minutes of last meeting  3 - 8 

4. National Countryside Access Forum  9 - 10 

5. Access Land update  11 - 12 

6. Rights of Way Improvement Plans   

7. Devil's Highway (Crowthorne RUPP 12) Traffic Regulation Order 
Review  

13 - 26 

8. Quiet Lanes   

 (Robert Bonney) 
 

 

9. Bridleways & Equestrian Routes   

 (Caroline Tomalin) 
 

 

10. Items for next meeting agenda   

 • Trespass & occupiers' liabilities (Stuart Tarrant) 
 

 

11. Any other business   

12. Date of Next Meeting   

 



This page is intentionally left blank



i 

 
(ITEM 3) 

LOCAL COUNTRYSIDE ACCESS FORUM 
27 MARCH 2003 

(7.00 pm – 8.20 pm) 
 

Present: Diana Pidgeon (Chairman), NFU, RSPB and NT 
David Bertie, CLA 
Celia Blay, BDS 
Robert Bonnie, CPRE 
Sue Cload, BVCV 
Michael Dyer, All Wheel Drive Club 
Anne Haydon, Bracknell Forest Borough Councillor 
Michael Hutson, Bracknell FOE 
Mark Osman, Farm Manager 
Peter Radband, BOB and H&BROC 
Derek Stickler, Crown Estate Manager 
Stuart Tarrant, NFU, BBONT and RSPB 
Caroline Tomalin, Horse Owner 
Simon Weeks, User and Manager of Countryside 
 

 Apologies for absence were received from: 
   Chris Garnder 
 
 Also Present: Councillor Iain McCracken 
 
 In attendance: Helen Tranter, Head of Countryside, Open Spaces and Heritage 
   Heather White, Countryside Officer 
   James Dymond, Countryside Research Assistant 
   Andrea Carr, Committee Administrator 
 
 
1. Welcome 

 
In welcoming all to the first meeting of the Local Countryside Access Forum, the 
Head of Countryside, Open Spaces and Heritage explained the background to the 
establishment of the Forum and its purpose. 
 
 

2. Introductions 
 
Members introduced themselves and described their interests in, and links with, 
countryside matters. 
 
 

3. Election of Chairman and Vice Chairman 
 
A previously circulated paper setting out the Forum’s terms of reference, including its 
constitution, membership and procedures, was tabled at the meeting for members’ 
formal agreement. 
 
With regard to membership, it was noted that this represented a mixed balance of 
land interest and user groups together with Borough councillors.  Members were 
reminded that they were not representative of any body or organisation and must act 
in a non-partisan manner.  Meetings of the Forum would be open to the press and 

3

Agenda Item 3



ii 

public and representatives of other local authorities and local countryside access 
forums were welcome to attend.  Liaison with the latter would be undertaken and it 
was noted that one forum had been established to represent the Wokingham, 
Reading and West Berkshire Unitary Authorities, whilst the Royal Borough of 
Windsor and Maidenhead had formed a forum and another was being formed to 
serve the County of Surrey.  The need for representation of disabled people was 
raised and, although one member had gained experience in this area through links 
with associated groups, it was suggested that flexible provision be made for co-
opting to the Forum a representative of the disabled. 
 
The Forum was advised that it was an advisory body and had no decision-making 
powers.  Although the Borough Council would have regard to any advice the Forum 
offered, it was not obliged to comply with such advice. 
 
Attention was drawn to particular aspects of the procedures and members noted that 
the Forum was required to meet at least twice per annum at six monthly intervals and 
that they would be reimbursed for reasonable expenses incurred in relation to 
travelling and child/dependant care through attendance at Forum meetings or other 
activities associated with the discharge of its functions.  Claims forms would be 
circulated for this purpose.  Although the procedures specified that the Forum would 
elect at its first meeting a chairman and vice chairman from amongst its membership, 
the related terms of office were not specified and therefore the Forum was invited to 
agree this.  The requirement for the Council to support and fund appropriate training 
or development programmes for members, as identified by the Forum, was 
highlighted and members were invited to notify the Head of Countryside, Open 
Spaces and Heritage in the event that they wished to undertake such programmes.  
This matter would be given further consideration at the Forum’s next meeting.  
Further to the procedural point requiring Forum meetings to be open to the public, a 
member suggested that future meeting commence with a public question time to 
receive questions and comments from the public. 
 
With regard to the budgetary provision for rights of way, the Forum noted that there 
was discretion in expenditure. 
 
RESOLVED that 
 
(a) subject to the following amendments, the Forum’s Terms of 

Reference/Procedures be agreed: 
 
(i) provision be made for the co-option of an additional member to 

represent the related interests of the disabled of the Borough; 
 

(ii) the chairman and vice chairman each be elected for a period of three 
years; and 
 

(iii) Forum meetings commence with a public question time facility. 
 

(b) Diana Pidgeon be elected as Chairman of the Forum for a period of three 
years; and 
 

(c) Stuart Tarrant be elected as Vice Chairman of the Forum for a period of 
three years. 
 

 

4



iii 

4. Rights of Way and Access Progress Report 
 
A report summarising the management of the rights of way network in Bracknell 
Forest was tabled at the meeting.  The report advised that the 144 individual public 
rights of way in the Borough, which collectively totalled approximately 80km in length, 
comprised: 
 

 Footpaths which conferred a right of access on foot; 

 Bridleways which conferred a right of access on foot or leading or riding a 
horse or bicycle; 

 Roads used as public paths (RUPPs) which conferred rights of access on foot, 
horse and bicycle although the associated right to drive motorised vehicles 
was ambiguous; and 

 Byways open to all traffic (BOATs) which conferred rights of access on foot, 
horse, bicycle and motorised vehicle. 

 
RUPPs were due to be replaced in 2003 by a new status to be known as a Restricted 
Byway which would confer rights of access on foot, horse, cycle and horse drawn 
vehicle.  This had been introduced to remove the previous ambiguity concerning use 
of motorised vehicles on RUPPs.  It was noted that five RUPPs and four Byways 
across the Borough were subject to Traffic Regulation Orders restricting or 
preventing use by motorised vehicles. 
 
The report also addressed definitive map work, outlined annual maintenance and 
inspection works, described promotions and events, referred to projects to be 
undertaken and set out new responsibilities under the Countryside and Rights of Way 
Act 2000. 
 
It was suggested that the Rights of Way booklet produced by the Council, which 
included the definitive map, be circulated to members together with details of the 
proposed new bridleways. 
 
With regard to prioritised maintenance work, a member advised that road planings 
were considered to be unattractive and their use presented difficulties for some 
categories of users.  Although there was limited scope for use of alternative 
maintenance materials owing to financial constraints, the Head of Countryside, Open 
Spaces and Heritage noted this view. 
 
 

5. Rights of Way Improvement Plans (ROWIPs) 
 
The Forum received a paper concerning ROWIPs, which local highway authorities 
(LHAs) were required under the provisions of the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 
2000 to prepare and publish for improving rights of way in their areas in the light of 
the needs of the public, including disabled people.  These provisions came into effect 
on 21 November 2002 and required the first ROWIPs to be prepared within five years 
of that date and to be assessed and reviewed within ten years of publication and at 
maximum intervals of ten years thereafter. 
 
The role of ROWIPs was to be the primary framework by which LHAs would identify 
the changes to be made, through management and improvement, to their local rights 
of way network in order to meet the Government’s aim of better provision for walkers, 
cyclists, equestrians and people with mobility problems. 
 

5



iv 

ROWIPs, which would include a statement of the action proposed for the 
management and improvement of local rights of way networks, were to take account 
of: 
 

 The extent to which local rights of way met the present and likely future needs of 
the public; 

 The opportunities provided by local rights of way for exercise and other forms of 
open-air recreation and the enjoyment of their area; 

 The accessibility of local rights of way to blind or partially sighted persons and 
those with mobility problems. 

 
Arrangements for monitoring and reporting on progress achieved in relation to 
implementation of ROWIPs were to be established. 
 
Having noted that the Bracknell Forest ROWIP would include improvements to the 
Ramblers’ Route and bridleways in general, the Forum considered other issues for 
inclusion.  The provision of carriage gates was welcomed to facilitate access by 
horse drawn carriages and it was noted that the introduction of Restricted Byways in 
place of RUPPs were unlikely to cause a significant change in related use by 
vehicles.  It was suggested that members gather, and report back on, the views of 
the local user groups which they represented in order to inform the preparation of the 
Improvement Plan.  A member indicated that receipt of a copy of the Borough’s 
Transport Plan would be beneficial in this regard.  Reference was made to the funds 
available from the Highways Agency to assist vulnerable users by improving safety 
and it was suggested that the Agency be approached in this regard. 
 
 

6. Devil’s Highway (Crowthorne RUPP 12) Traffic Regulation Order Review 
 
A report relating to a five year review of the above Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) 
was circulated at the meeting.  The report provided the background to and 
justification for the TRO, identified the options and associated costs relating to its 
future treatment and considered the way forward.  The Forum was advised that the 
review consultation period extended to July 2003 when comments received would be 
utilised to inform the preparation of a related report to enable the Borough Council to 
determine the course of action to be taken in this regard.  The Forum’s comments on 
the report were sought.  
 
Although the report stated that a reduction in the number of abandoned vehicles and 
amount of fly tipping had been achieved as a result of the introduction of the TRO, 
some members felt that this reduction was minimal and indicated that these problems 
had merely been displaced.  They felt that it was unfortunate that legitimate users 
were denied access owing to a small number who misused the RUPP. 
 
Whilst the TRO aimed to prevent use of the Devil’s Highway by all motorised 
vehicles, many two wheeled vehicles were able to overcome the physical barriers 
and gain illegal access to the RUPP, the surface of which could be damaged by their 
tyres.  A member was of the opinion that the Crown Estate sought complete closure 
of the RUPP to vehicular access under the relevant legislation.  Modifications to the 
TRO to allow motorcycle use on the Devil’s Highway at times other than weekends 
was suggested as an alternative way forward.  Although new powers conferred under 
the Police Reform Act 2002 allowed the Police to confiscate vehicles driven 
dangerously on a public right of way or other open space, Members felt that 

6



v 

insufficient weight was attached to related complaints to the local Police Station and 
asked that the Police be encouraged to act on such complaints. 
 
Reference was made to the motorcycle event held at Butter Hill.  Although this had 
offered a valued recreational opportunity, it was felt to have encouraged unlawful 
motorcycle use of land in the area and the benefit of increasing public awareness of 
the areas where such activity was permitted was highlighted.  The Forum recognised 
the merits of designating a site for motorcycle use in order to promote the Borough’s 
recreational resources and discourage such unlawful use of other areas of land.  
 
 

7. Items for Next Meeting Agenda 
 
The following matters were identified for inclusion on the agenda in respect of the 
Forum’s next meeting: 
 

 Rights of Way Improvement Plan – feed back from user groups (regular item) and 
system of safe links between bridleways for horseriders; 

 Devil’s Highway (Crowthorne RUPP 12) – Police Perspective on trespassers; 

 Public Crossing on Nile Mile Ride to Caesar’s Camp; 

 Presentation on Borough Transport Plan; and 

 Training / development programmes. 
 
In this connection it was agreed that: 
 
- A contact list be circulated amongst members of the Forum; and 
- Provision of a dedicated webpage within the Council’s website in respect of this 

Forum. 
 
 

8. Any Other Business 
 
There was no other business. 
 
 

9. Date of Next Meeting 
 
The Forum agreed that its next meeting would be held at 7.00 pm on Tuesday 7 
October 2003. 
 
 

7



This page is intentionally left blank



(ITEM 4) 
National Countryside Access Forum 

 
 
The NCAF was established in July 1999 and is chaired by Pam Warhurst, Deputy Chair 
of the Countryside Agency. It advises the Countryside Agency on the development of 
policy and procedures to implement access legislation and is a useful way of finding 
consensus and resolving differences between interests. 
 
The forum contains representatives from a wide range of organisations: 
 

 Association of National Park Authorities 

 British Horse Society 

 British Mountaineering Council  

 Council for the Protection of Rural England 

 Country Landowners Association  

 Cyclists Touring Club 

 Local Government Association  

 The Moorland Association 

 National Farmers Union  

 National Trust 

 Ramblers Association 

 Royal Society for the Protection of Birds 

 Transport and General Workers Union. 

 (Two additional independent members) 
 
Forum meetings are open to the public by contacting the Countryside Agency. 
 
16 NACF meetings have taken place so far, with the 17th meeting scheduled for October 
2003.  The agendas and minutes from these can be found online at: 
http://www.countryside.gov.uk/reception/meetings_past_access.asp 
 
 

 

9

Agenda Item 4

http://www.countryside.gov.uk/reception/meetings_past_access.asp


This page is intentionally left blank



(ITEM 5) 
Mapping Access Land in England 

 
The Countryside Agency is preparing maps of all open country and registered common 
land in England (the Countryside Council for Wales is carrying out the same task in 
Wales). This is a statutory duty under the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000. 
 
The Process 
 

 Production of draft maps for the whole of England, on a rolling programme. To 
make this easier the country has been divided into eight mapping areas. 

 Public consultations on all the draft maps. During each three month consultation 
any member of the public can submit a comment on the draft map. 

 Having considered all comments a provisional map for each area will be 
published.  Those with a legal interest in a parcel of land (such as land owners, 
tenants and those with sporting rights) will be able to appeal to the Secretary of 
State. 

 When provisional maps have been amended a conclusive map will be issued.  

 Finally, the Secretary of State has decided that the conclusive maps will be rolled 
out on a mapping area by mapping area basis. The first two areas will be 
available during summer 2004. 

 
 
Current Provisional Map showing Bracknell Forest: 
 

 
 
Key: 
Yellow - open country 
Green - registered common land 
 

11

Agenda Item 5



For more information, see the Countryside Agency website: 
http://www.countryside.gov.uk/access/accessopencountryside.htm 

12

http://www.countryside.gov.uk/access/accessopencountryside.htm


 

 
RUPP 12, Crowthorne  

(Devil’s Highway) 
 
 

Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) 
Review 

 
 

Public Consultation Report 
 
 

September 2003 

13

Agenda Item 7



 

 2 

Contents 

 
 
1 Background 
 
 
2 TRO Review 
 
 
3 Public Consultation Responses 
 
3.1 Responses 
 
3.2 Comments from the general public 
 
3.3 Comments from organisations / official bodies 
 
 
4 Future Options and Impacts 
  
4.1 The current TRO remains in force 
 
4.2 The TRO is removed 
 
4.3 The TRO is amended to allow motorcycles to use the way 
 
 
5 Conclusions 
 
 
Appendix A - RUPP 12, Crowthorne location map 
 
Appendix B - RUPP 12, Crowthorne and TRO map 
 
Appendix C - Public consultation poster

14



 

 3 

1 Background 
 
1.1 This document follows on from the Traffic Regulation Order Review Report 

that was written to inform the public consultation concerning the future of the 
TRO along the public right of way known as the Devil’s Highway.  Both 
documents should be read in conjunction in order to understand the 
background and issues involved. 

 
1.2 The Devil's Highway is a public right of way designated as a Road Used As A 

Public Path (RUPP).  It is marked as RUPP 12, Crowthorne on the Bracknell 
Forest Definitive Map. 

 
1.3 In September 1997 a Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) was made on the 

western section of the Devil's Highway.  This ran from near the Bracknell Road 
in a westwardly direction to the Foresters Way underpass (see Appendices A 
and B). 

 
1.4 The TRO was made on this section of RUPP 12 under the following grounds 

from Section 1 of the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984: 
 

Ground (c) For facilitating the passage on the road or any other road of any 
class of traffic (including pedestrians) 
 
Ground (d) For preventing the use of the road by vehicular traffic of a kind 
which, or its use by vehicular traffic which is unsuitable having regard to the 
existing character of the road or adjoining property. 
 
Ground (e) Without prejudice to the generality of paragraph (d) above for 
preserving the character of the road in a case where it is especially suitable for 
persons on horseback or on foot. 
 
Ground (f) For preserving the amenities of the area through which the road 
runs. 

 
 

15



 

 4 

2 Traffic Regulation Order Review 
 
2.1 The original TRO made through the Planning & Highways Committee in 1997 

contained a condition that it would be reviewed after a period of five years.  In 
late 2002, therefore, this process was begun and a consultation followed. 

 
2.2 In early 2003, a TRO Review Report was produced by the Council, which 

provided background information on the RUPP and the TRO and summarised 
the issues involved at the time.  This report was made available, free of 
charge, upon request to the Council and at Bracknell and Crowthorne public 
libraries. 

 
2.3 The public consultation on the existence of the TRO on RUPP12 began in 

March 2003 and ran until the end of July 2003.  During this time posters (see 
Appendix C) were placed at regular intervals along the right of way. These 
made the status of the way clear, informed people of the existence of the 
Review Report and invited members of the public to contact the Council, 
through a variety of modes, so as to make their comments and views known.  
The responses to this consultation are dealt with in Section 3. 

 
2.4 Since the implementation of the TRO in 1997 and during the review period, a 

series of new issues have arisen which affect the Devil's Highway and the TRO 
on it. 

 
2.4.1 Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000 (CROW), Sections 66 and 103(2) - 

amendments made to Section 22 of the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 
under this legislation allow traffic regulation for countryside areas, including 
Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI), for the purpose of 

 
"conserving or enhancing the natural beauty of the area, or of affording better 
opportunities for the public to enjoy the amenities of the area, or recreation or 
the study of nature in the area." (Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 22[2]) 

 
As the northern boundary of the ‘Broadmoor to Bagshot Woods and Heaths 
SSSI’ borders RUPP 12, the TRO is further substantiated by the Road Traffic 
Regulation Act 1984 under the CROW Act 2000. 

 
2.4.2 CROW Act 2000, Sections 47 and 48 - under this legislation (likely to come 

into force in late 2003) rights of way currently classed as RUPPs will become 
Restricted Byways: 

 
"47. - (2) Every way which, immediately before the commencement of this 
section, is shown in any definitive map and statement as a road used as a 
public path shall be treated instead as shown as a restricted byway; and the 
expression "road used as a public path" shall not be used in any definitive map 
and statement to describe any way." 

 
"48. - (1) Subject to subsections (2) and (3), the public shall have restricted 
byway rights over any way which, immediately before the commencement of 
section 47, is shown in a definitive map and statement as a road used as a 
public path." 

 
"48. - (4) "restricted byway rights" means- 
(a) a right of way  on foot, 
(b) a right of way on horseback or leading a horse, and 

16



 

 5 

(c) a right of way for vehicles other than mechanically propelled vehicles; and 
"restricted byway" means a highway over which the public have restricted 
byway rights, with or without a right to drive animals of any description 
along the highway, but no other rights of way." 

 
It is likely, therefore, that RUPP 12 Crowthorne will be automatically re-
designated as a restricted byway, allowing pedestrians, horse-riders and non-
mechanically propelled vehicles to use it. 

 
Should this review lead to a decision to remove the TRO or to amend it to 
allow motorcycle access, the new status of restricted byway would once again 
make motorised vehicle use illegal.  This would necessitate the need to 
reclassify the way to a Byway Open to All Traffic.  This process allows for a 
public objection period – and would probably lead to the decision being 
referred to the Planning Inspectorate.  

 
2.4.3 Long-standing illegal use of motorbikes along the Devil's Highway and 

throughout the wider Swinley Forest and Crowthorne Woods areas prompted 
the establishment of a multi-agency working group to examine options to divert 
this activity away from these areas.  The working group comprises Thames 
Valley Police Officers, and representatives from the Auto Cycle Union, Crown 
Estate, Forestry Commission, English Nature, Bracknell Forest Borough 
Council and other local conservation and youth bodies.  The need for this 
group was due to the designation of the wider Swinley Forest / Crowthorne 
Woods area as a Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) and a proposed 
Special Protection Area (pSPA) for the conservation of internationally rare 
ground nesting birds. 

 
A one-off event organised by this working group took place at the Butter Hill 
site (shown on Appendix B map) in January 2003.  Access for this event was 
from the Bracknell Road via Bridleway 14 (by special permission of the 
landowner – Forestry Commission). 

 
Following this event, the Butter Hill Working Group focussed their attention on 
the long-term solution. The Crown Estate agreed, in principle, to set aside the 
Butter Hill site for off-road motorbike use through a proposed management 
agreement with the Auto Cycle Union.  However, the issue of access is 
currently restricting the project, with no legal access options currently 
available. 

 

17



 

 6 

3 Public Consultation 
 
3.1 Responses 
 
3.1.1 During the consultation period of March to July 2003, 46 responses were 

received regarding the Devil's Highway TRO.  33 of these were from members 
of the public who use the way or live adjacent or close to the way.  A further 13 
responses were from official bodies or organisations. 

 
3.1.2 The TRO Review document provided three options for the TRO: 
 

 Retain current TRO 
 Remove current TRO 
 Amend TRO to allow motorcycles to use the way 

 
The responses received were categorised using these options: 
 
 Retain 

Current TRO 
Remove 

TRO 
Amend 

TRO 
No 

decision 
Total 

Total number 
of responses 
(Public & 
official bodies)  

37 0 8 1 46 

% 80.4% 0% 17.4% 2.2% 100% 

 
Table 1: responses for and against the Devil's Highway TRO 

 
3.1.3 As shown in the table above, overall opinions largely favoured retaining the 

TRO in its current form (i.e. prohibiting all motorised vehicles) with 37 
respondents (80.4%) supporting this option.  A further 8 respondents (17.4%) 
favoured amending the TRO to allow motorcycles to use the way, whilst one 
respondent declined to offer a decision on the TRO. 

 
 
3.2 Comments from the general public 
 
3.2.1 The comments received from members of the public have been categorised as 

follows: 
 

Issue Number of Comments 

In favour of TRO 

Generally, against current use of motorbikes along way 19 

 Dangerous / abusive behaviour of motorcycle users    17 

 Vehicular access causes damage to surface of way /   
environment and / or wildlife / vegetation 

  14 

 As a means of preventing excessive fly-tipping   13 

 Vehicles conflict with other users     9 

 Prevents abandoned vehicles     6 

 Noise from vehicles     5 

 Air pollution from vehicles     2 

 

For amending TRO to allow motorcycle access 

Allow motorcycles to access Butter Hill   3 

 
Table 2: TRO comments from the general public 

18



 

 7 

3.3 Comments from organisations / official bodies 
 

The following are summaries of the comments received from official bodies 
and organisations regarding the TRO. 

 
3.3.1 In favour of current TRO: 

 
 Babtie (Archaeological consultants) 

Recommend retaining TRO in its current form.  Babtie also recommend 
that BFBC seeks to have entire length of Devil's Highway in question 
legally protected as a Scheduled Ancient Monument. If motorcycle access 
was permitted, Babtie recommend that the way should be surfaced with at 
least 100mm blacktop and at least 65mm base (at a cost of £93,750 - 
£125,000). 

 
 Berks on Bikes Mountain Bike Club 

BOBMBC's view is that the current illegal situation of motorcycle activity is 
highly damaging to the surface of the way. They indicated that there had 
been a marked increase in the erosion and deterioration of the surface 
over the last year.  They favour stricter law-enforcement by the police and 
authorities concerning illegal users. 

 
 Crowthorne Parish Council 

Recommend retaining the TRO in its current form. 
 

 English Heritage 
English Heritage have no objections to the TRO remaining in force as it 
restricts damaging use of the right of way and prevents inappropriate 
usage and damage in other areas of the forest which contain scheduled 
monuments. 
 

 Heathland Conservation Society   
In favour of retaining the TRO. However, HCS does support the principle of 
the Butter Hill facility and suggests that a 3m wide fenced corridor is 
created parallel to the length of the Devil's Highway to allow motorcycles to 
access the Butter Hill site, whilst avoiding conflicts with other users and 
damage to the archaeologically important surface. 

 
3.3.2 In favour of amending TRO to allow motorcycle use: 

 
 Auto-Cycle Union 

The ACU support the proposal to amend the TRO to allow motorcycles to 
use the Devil's Highway, with a view to this being used as access for a 
future off-road motorcycling facility at Butter Hill. 

 
 Crown Estate 

The Crown Estate favours amending the TRO to allow motorcycles to use 
the way, with a view to the creation of an Auto-Cycle Union-licensed and -
managed facility at Butter Hill. 

 
 Crowthorne Police Station (Thames Valley Police) 

Support for the TRO, but amended to allow motorcycle access. However, 
acknowledged that the TRO has had positive effects in terms of reducing 
fly-tipping and dumping of vehicles. 

 

19



 

 8 

 English Nature  
Favours amending the TRO to allow motorcycle access along the Devil's 
Highway. This would be with a view to establishing a permanent 
motorcycle area at Butter Hill and thereby attempting to reduce the illegal 
use of motorbikes in other areas. 
 

 Forest Enterprise 
In favour of amending TRO to allow motorcycle access. Accepts that the 
TRO has been successful in reducing fly-tipping, abandoned cars and 
antisocial behaviour in area. However, wishes to see motorcycle use in 
formalised Butter Hill area with the wider area policed to reduce the 
nuisance and damage caused by illegal use. 

 
3.3.3 Other comments: 

 
 SE Berkshire Ramblers Association 

The Ramblers Association discuss both the idea of amending the TRO to 
allow motorcycles to use the way in a regulated fashion and alternatively, 
leaving the current TRO in force with a view to the RUPP being reclassified 
as a restricted byway in the near future. 

 
 Safety Advisor, Bracknell Forest Borough Council 

The Council Safety Advisor carried out a risk assessment and report on 
the feasibility of allowing motorcycle access along the Devil's Highway to 
the Butter Hill area.  It was concluded that stretches of the way would be 
unsuitable for this, with the narrow width likely to lead to user conflicts and 
hazards.  Widening of areas of the way and possibly protection of the 
current surface and the archaeology beneath it would be required, along 
with a code of practice for users and registration scheme for motorcycles. 

 
 Wildlife Ranger, Bracknell Forest Borough Council 

Following examination of the Devil's Highway and Butter Hill area, John 
Wenman, Wildlife Ranger for BFBC concluded that the TRO should be 
amended to allow motorcycles to use the way and access the Butter Hill 
site for a limited period of 18 months to assess the success of Butter Hill as 
a diversion site, and to allow for monitoring of the environmental impacts.   
 

  
 
 

20



 

 9 

4 Future Options and Impacts 

  
4.1 The current TRO remains in force 
 
4.1.1 Since the original implementation of the TRO in 1997, significant successes 

have been achieved in reducing abandoned cars and fly-tipping in the area. 
The Council's vehicle enforcement officer reported that no vehicles were 
abandoned there between July 1997 and August 1999 in contrast to the 12 
vehicles collected between March and July 1997.  Fly-tipping problems also 
diminished slightly, although a significant amount still occurred at the newly 
created Forestry Commission car park at the western end of the RUPP.  
Conflicts concerning vehicles and other users have disappeared, although 
conflicts with motorcycles still exist. 

 
4.1.2 Retaining the current TRO reinforces the council's duty, under Section 122 of 

the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 to secure the expeditious, convenient 
and safe movement of all traffic, including walkers, cyclists and horse-riders. 
This would conform to the original reasons for establishing the TRO. 

 
4.1.3 Retaining the current TRO would help protect the surrounding wildlife areas of 

international importance, designated as Wildlife Heritage Sites, SSSI, 
International Bird Area (IBA) and Proposed Special Protection Area (pSPA) for 
birds.  This would conform to additional reasons for making a TRO, set out 
under the CROW Act 2000. 

 
4.1.4 The current TRO also reduces the risk of damage to the right of way and its 

archaeology as a Roman Road, as well as important Scheduled Ancient 
Monuments in the surrounding areas. 

 
4.1.5 The likely future reclassification of RUPP 12 to a restricted byway means that 

no practical changes for motor vehicle use would need to take place if the 
current TRO is retained. 

 
4.1.6 However, some of the advantages of the TRO mentioned above are 

diminishing as the way is used regardless of its status, illegally by 
motorcyclists; the prevention of such actions is extremely difficult.   

 
4.1.7 Retaining the current TRO excludes the possibility of access to Butter Hill, a 

future possible site for organised off-road motorcycling. However, it is possible 
that an alternative access route could be created parallel to the Devil's 
Highway.  This would necessitate the purchase of land from the Forestry 
Commission and would still involved motorcycles crossing RUPP 12 to access 
the Butter Hill site. 

 
 
4.2 The TRO is removed 

 
4.2.1 Completely lifting the TRO from the RUPP would allow access to all types of 

motor vehicle.  This would have the benefit of allowing legal access to the 
Butter Hill site. 

 
4.2.2 There have been no calls to lift the TRO completely and it seems likely that 

doing so would re-introduce the previous problems of abandoned cars, fly-
tipping, anti-social behaviour, environmental damage and user conflicts along 
the way, to the detriment of the countryside and its users. 

21



 

 10 

4.3 The TRO is amended to allow motorcycles to use the way 
 

4.3.1 This would allow access along the Devil's Highway (a public highway) by 
legally taxed and insured motorcyclists to a possible future motorcycle site at 
Butter Hill.  However, it would be illegal for unlicensed, untaxed or uninsured 
bikes to use the way. 

 
4.3.2 The specific details of allowing access along the Devil's Highway would need 

to be considered carefully in order to avoid damage to the surface of the way, 
the underlying archaeology and the surrounding countryside and conflicts 
between users, issues raised regularly during the consultation (see Table 2).  
This would require speed limits and possibly the separation of motorcycles 
from other users.  Strict enforcement of such rules would be required with 
possible monitoring from the police and the Auto-Cycle Union. 

 
4.3.3 Issues of preventing illegal access into the wider forest area would need to be 

tackled, with the recently felled Forestry Commission land to the north 
currently representing prime nesting habitat for the protected ground nesting 
birds in the SSSI, for example. 

 
4.3.4 Access from other directions to any future motorcycle site at Butter Hill would 

need to be controlled to prevent environmental damage and user conflict in the 
wider Swinley Forest and Bramshill Forest areas. 

 
4.3.5 Issues have been raised by the targeted group of young motorcycle users and 

others as to whether Butter Hill is in fact a suitable site for a motorcycling 
facility in terms of its size and technical difficulty. 
 
 

 

22



 

 11 

5 Conclusions 
 
5.1 Cllr Iain McCracken, Portfolio Holder for Leisure Services has considered the 

Review report and the Public Consultation Report and has come to the 
following conclusion:- 

 
That no action should be taken to remove or amend the existing Traffic 
Regulation Order on the Devil's Highway. 

 
5.2 In undertaking this review, several other related issues have arisen. 

Comments on these issues are as follows:- 
 
5.2.1. It should be noted that the existing status of the Devil's Highway as a Road 

Used as a Public Path (RUPP) will change to a Restricted Byway under the 
new legislation being introduced as part of the Countryside and Rights of Way 
Act 2000.  The implication of this is that the public will have a right of way on 
foot, on horseback or leading a horse and a right for vehicles other then 
mechanically propelled vehicles.  The Traffic Regulation Order prohibits 
motorised vehicles and so is likely to become redundant at some time in the 
future, although no action needs to be taken on this matter at this moment in 
time. 
 

5.2.2 The archaeological importance of the Devils Highway be noted and an 
approach be made to English Heritage to request that it be scheduled as an 
Ancient Monument. 
 

5.2.3 Discussions continue with landowners and other organisations about the 
feasibility of providing facilities for motorcyclists at Butter Hill.  The possibility of 
allowing controlled access to the site by means of a permit system or by 
granting other private rights be explored. 
 

5.2.4 This report should be submitted to the Local Countryside Access Forum to 
allow public debate on these issues.  

 

23



 

 12 24



 

 13 25



 

 14 

DDEEVVIILL''SS  HHIIGGHHWWAAYY  

TTRRAAFFFFIICC  RREEGGUULLAATTIIOONN  

OORRDDEERR  RREEVVIIEEWW  
 

This public right of way "Crowthorne 12", known as the Devil's 
Highway, is designated as a Road Used As A Public Path (RUPP). 
 
In September 1997 a Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) 
preventing motor vehicle access was made on the section 
that runs from the A3095 underpass, eastwards to the 
Forestry Commission car park accessed from the Bracknell 
Road (B3348). 
 
When the TRO came into force, it was agreed to review its 
effectiveness after five years and Bracknell Forest Borough 
Council is now carrying this out. 
 
A review document is available from the BFBC website, at 
Crowthorne and Bracknell libraries and upon request from the 
Council. 
 

We are seeking your views on this matter. 
 

A report on the TRO is available at Crowthorne and Bracknell 
libraries; if you have any comments to make regarding the 
use of the Devil's Highway or the suitability or effectiveness of 
the Traffic Regulation Order currently in place, please contact 
BFBC Leisure Services by 31st July 2003.   
 

James Dymond, Research Assistant, Leisure Services 
Bracknell Forest Borough Council 

Time Square, Market Street 
Bracknell, Berkshire, RG12 1LR 

01344 354107 
James.Dymond@Bracknell-Forest.gov.uk 

 
After consultation with the public, landowners and others, a report 
with recommendations will be produced by Leisure Services. At the 
conclusion of the consultation process, it is expected that a 
decision will be made in approximately October 2003. 

Appendix C 
 

26


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of last meeting
	4 National Countryside Access Forum
	5 Access Land update
	7 Devil's Highway (Crowthorne RUPP 12) Traffic Regulation Order Review

